#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM KOPSHO,	)	
Appellant,	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. SC05-763
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	) ) )	

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Kopsho, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by Grand Jury with Murder in the First Degree and Kidnaping While Armed. (I 1) The state filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty. (I 14) The appellant filed a pretrial motion to Declare the Florida Victim Impact Statute Unconstitutional or require the state to proffer victim impact evidence for prejudice. (I 47) The appellant filed several pretrial motions challenging the constitutionality of the Florida death

penalty scheme.<sup>2</sup>

The appellant requested individual voir dire on the issue of the death penalty. (IX 5) The trial court denied the request for individual voir dire on the death penalty, but would allow individual voir dire on the issues of pretrial publicity and domestic violence. (IX 5) The appellant objected to "death qualifying" the jury because the death penalty statute in Florida is unconstitutional, and the state did not obtain a separate "death qualifying" indictment. (IX 7) The appellant's request not to death qualify the jury was denied. (IX 8) The appellant conceded responsibility for the death of Lynne Kopsho in this case. (IX 8) The trial court denied the appellant's request for additional peremptory challenges. (IX 11)

The appellant made several challenges for cause that were denied by the court. The appellant made a challenge for cause on Juror McCray on the grounds that she was predisposed to support the death penalty and she had strong feelings against domestic violence. (IX 65) The trial court denied the cause challenge

ection 921.141(5)(d) Felony Murder Aggravating Factor; Section 921.141(5)(i) CCP Aggravating Factor; Section 921.141(Improper mitigation evidence standard)(Failure to provide adequate jury guidance)(Bare majority of jurors sufficient for death sentence)(Improper Appellate Review) (Ring v. Arizona); Section 921.141(5)(f) Pecuniary Gain Aggravating Factor; Section 921.141(5)(a)

because Juror McCray indicated she could be impartial. (IX 66) The appellant made a challenge for cause on Juror Pierro on the grounds that she was a victim of domestic abuse as a child and would have difficulty setting that aside while being a juror. (IX 107) The trial court denied the cause challenge on the grounds that Juror Pierro said she would follow the law instructed by the court. (IX 109) The appellant made a challenge for cause to Juror Holden on the grounds that she suffered similar abuse as in the present case. (X 217) The trial court denied the cause challenge on Juror Holden, however the trial court would entertain the request for an additional peremptory challenge. (X 218) The appellant made a cause challenge on Juror Mullinax because the juror believed that the accused should be required to testify at trial. (XII 518) The trial court ruled that the appellant's version of events will be before the jury, and found that Juror Mullinax's answers indicated that he would be impartial. (XII 518)

The case proceeded trial. The state sought introduce evidence that appellant was having a extramarital sexual relationship with a woman named "Vivian." (XIII 631) The appellant objected to the state's inquiry about Vivian because the state was trying to besmirch the character of the appellant. (XIII 632) The trial court allowed the evidence of an extramarital affair over appellant objection.

The state rests. (XV 864) The appellant made a motion for judgement of acquittal on the first degree murder charge on the grounds that the state failed to prove premeditation. (XV 866) The trial court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (XV 866) The appellant rests. (XV 898) The appellant made a motion for judgment of acquittal as to both counts. (XV 899) Appellant argued that there was insufficient evidence of premeditation for the murder charge to go to the jury. (XV 899) The appellant also argued that the evidence was insufficient to support the charge of kidnaping because Lynne Kopsho traveled voluntarily with her husband before she was shot. (XV 900) The state responded that once the appellant exhibited the gun, Lynne Kopsho was no longer voluntarily in the car. (XV 900) Although it was not a long period of time, there was a period of time in which Lynne Kopsho was confined against her will in the truck with the intent to kill her. (XV 900) The trial court denied the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal. (XV 901) The jury found the appellant guilty as charged to both counts of the indictment. (XV 962)

## **Penalty Phase**

The state requested a jury instruction on five aggravating factors.<sup>3</sup> (XVI 972)

'rime was committed while on felony probation; Defendant was previously convicted of

The appellant renewed previous objections to the Florida Death Penalty on the *Ring*<sup>4</sup> issue and that the Florida Death Penalty scheme does not adequately narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty. (XVI 982) The trial court denied appellant's special jury instruction on HAC and CCP. (XVI 985-86)

The state introduced three letters written by relatives of the victims. (XVII 1025) The appellant renewed his objection to victim impact evidence coming before the jury. (XVII 1027) The appellant specifically objected to the following passage: "after reading the articles and exactly what happened on the day she died, will haunt me forever" (XVII 1027) The trial court allowed the victim impact evidence over objection. (XVII 1028)

The state sought to introduce photographs of the victim of a prior violent felony committed by the appellant. (XVII 1043) The appellant objected to photographs of the victim on the grounds that the prejudice outweighed the probative value. (XVII 1044) The trial court denied appellant's request to have interrogatory verdict forms. (XVII 1047) The state rests. (XVII 1107)

another capital offense or felony involving the use or threat of violence; crime was committed during the course of a kidnaping; the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (XVI 973)

The appellant made a Motion for Directed Verdict for a Life Sentence on the grounds that the state failed to establish an aggravating factor. (XVII 1109) The trial court denied the Motion for Directed Verdict. (XVII 1109) The appellant rested. (XVII 1205)

The trial court rejected appellant's jury instruction that the offense occurred in the context of a domestic relationship. (XVII 1213) The trial court rejected appellant's jury instruction that the appellant has the capacity to help others learn from his mistakes while in prison. (XVII 1217) The trial court rejected appellant's jury instruction that appellant handled himself well during all phases of the trial. (XVII 1225)

The appellant objected to the trial court giving a penalty phase jury instruction on the HAC, CCP and Felony Murder aggravating factors. (XVIII 1236) The appellant also renewed his objections to the penalty phase jury instruction based upon *Ring*. (XVIII 1236)

During deliberations, the jury requested a copy of the paper that showed the appellant was sent to the juvenile home. (XVIII 1299) The trial court denied the request because the document was not in evidence. (XVIII 1300) The jury

recommended a sentence of death by a majority vote of nine to three. (XVIII 1304)

During the *Spencer* Hearing, the appellant offered his prison records to establish that the appellant would not be a threat to anyone in prison. (VII 1069)

The appellant addressed the court and expressed remorse for taking his wife's life.

(VII 1074) The trial court sentenced appellant to death on Count I; sentenced the appellant to life imprisonment with a mandatory minimum of ten years as to Count II. (VII 1190) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed. (VII 1191) This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Katina Tufts was traveling east on State Road 40 with her husband Shawn on the morning of October 27, 2000. (XIII 556) Tufts observed a black truck begin to sway in the lane ahead of her. (XIII 557) The truck then screeched to a stop at the right hand of the road. (XIII 557) Tufts then observed Lynne Kopsho exit from the passenger side of the truck, and started running towards Tufts' vehicle. (XIII 558) The appellant exited the truck and began to chase after Lynne Kopsho. (XIII 559) The appellant then grabbed Kopsho from behind and threw her onto the ground. (XIII 559) Appellant then reached behind his back and came forward and fired a shot and Lynne Kopsho fell to the ground. (XIII 559) Tufts then yelled for her husband to get back in the car, and they drove to the first house to call 911. (XIII 560)

Tufts returned back to the scene of the shooting and the appellant was still there. (XIII 561) The appellant demanded that Tufts to stay away from Lynne Kopsho. (XIII 561) The appellant stated "that he had shot the bitch and that she was dead. And told us to stay away from her." (XIII 561) After the appellant crossed the other side of State Road 40, Tufts went to Lynne Kopsho and observed a gun laying by her right shoulder. (XIII 562)

After the shooting, Tufts was shown a photo lineup. (XIII 564) Tufts identified appellant as the person that shot Lynne Kopsho. (XIII 565) Tufts testified that the appellant was just screaming, he was neurotic, she did not know how to explain him. (XIII 569) The appellant stated he was just tired and waited for police and made no effort to run away or anything. (XIII 568)

Basil Friend was told that there was a shooting. (XIII 588) Friend called the Sheriff's Department and went to the scene of the shooting armed with his 32 caliber pistol. (XIII 590) When Friend arrived at the scene of the shooting he observed Lynne Kopsho on the ground. (XIII 590) Appellant was standing by the body and stated: "get the F back. Don't come near. I just shot her three times." (XIII 591) Friend pulled his gun and appellant told him not to do anything. (XIII 591)

Edwin Boone was a communication officer for the Marion County Sheriff's office. (XIII 600) Boone received a 911 call from the appellant. (XIII 600) Appellant told Boone that he just shot his wife. (XIII 600) Kopsho kept people away from his wife while he waited for police to arrive. (XIII 617) Kopsho stated that he caught wife in bed with another man who was my good friend. (XIII 619) Kopsho stated that the gun he used to shot his wife was a 9mm stolen from

William Steele. (XIII 620)

Teresa Erickson is the stepmother of Lynne Kopsho. (XIII 623) Lynne Kopsho moved out of Erickson's house when she was eighteen years old to move in with the appellant. (XIII 624) Three months before she was killed, Lynne Kopsho moved back in with Erickson. (XIII 624) Lynne Kopsho was cordial to her husband while they were separated. (XIII 624) Erickson helped Lynne Kopsho get her own automobile three months before she was killed. (XIII 625)

Jane Cameron was a co-worker of the appellant and his wife Lynne Kopsho. (XIII 626) Jane Cameron's husband Robin Cameron were also friends with the couple. (XIII 627) The week before the shooting, the appellant asked Cameron if she knew where Lynne was going, who she was going with and what she was up to. (XIII 629) The appellant discussed with Cameron the his wife's plan to drive to Ohio in the coming weeks. (XIII 629)

At the time of the killing, Lynne Kopsho was not living with her husband. (XIII 630) Appellant was living with a woman named Vivian. (XIII 630) The appellant confided to Cameron that he was having a sexual relationship with Vivian. (XIII 631) The morning of the killing, the appellant spoke with Cameron and the appellant seemed a little distracted. (XIII 637) Cameron knew that Lynne

Kopsho had a one night relationship with Dennis Hisey. (XIII 639) Cameron also knew that appellant was aggravated with his wife because appellant had found out about Dennis Hisey. (XIII 640) Cameron confirmed that Lynne Kopsho admitted to her husband that she in fact had a relationship with Dennis Hisey. (XIII 641) This occurred a few days before the killing. (XIII 641)

On the morning of October 27, 2000, the appellant went to the Florida Credit Union and withdrew \$3,000 from his checking account. (XIII 643) The appellant was not acting in any unusual way at the time of the withdrawal from the credit union. (XIII 644) On September 22, 2000 William Kopsho was removed from Lynne Kopsho's credit card account by each of them signing a document removing him from the account. (XIII 648) On October 26, 2000 there was a deposit of \$4,500.12 into the William and Lynne Kopsho bank account. (XIII 650) On the same date, there was a transfer made to a different account for \$1500.00. (XIII 650) There was also a debit card transaction from the joint checking account on October 27<sup>th</sup> from Walmart for \$159.22. (XIII 651)

On October 25, 2000 the appellant and his wife executed a promissory note with Citi Financial. (XIII 658) The couple borrowed \$4,516.22. (XIII 659) The check was endorsed by appellant and Lynne Kopsho and was cashed on October

26, 2000. (XIII 660)

The appellant was taken into custody by Marion County Sheriff Jeff Peeples. (XIV 670) The appellant had \$3,000.00 in cash in his wallet. (XIV 674) The appellant was cooperative when he was placed under arrest. (XIV 675)

Larry Thompson was a Marion County Sheriff that searched the appellant's truck after the shooting. (XIV 699) Thompson recovered a package that at one time contained a Crossman airgun pistol. (XIV 703) Thompson also found a sleeping bag, and a camping pad which had not been open from its original camping packaging. (XIV 706) Thompson also found a tent that appeared to be in its original packaging. (XIV 707) Thompson also recovered a Walmart bag containing a blanket, a roll of duck tape, and a rope. (XIV 707)

There was blood found on the appellant's right hand, and a DNA test revealed that the blood taken from his right hand was identified as being the blood of Lynne Kopsho. (XIV 721) A gunshot residue test was also revealed that there was gunshot residue found on the right hand of the appellant. (XIV 721) Marion County Sheriff's deputies recovered a Crossman BB gun from the home of William Steele. (XIV 736) The state introduced a firearms transaction record which stated that William R.V. Steele, residing at 4205 N.W. 35<sup>th</sup> Street, Ocala,

Florida owned a Glock model 22, serial number C.A.R. (XIV 744)

Associate Medical Examiner Susan Ignacio conducted an autopsy on the victim Lynne Kopsho. (XV 795) The victim was shot in the chest and abdomen four times. (XV 797) All of the gunshots exited the victim's body. (XV 797) Two of the gunshot wounds were fatal. (XV 801) The cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds to the chest and abdomen. (XV 809)

Marion County Sheriff Deputy Jeff Owens conducted an interview of the appellant shortly after the shooting. (XV 814) Deputy Owens read the appellant his *Miranda* rights and the appellant signed a form indicating he understood his rights. (XV 814) The appellant stated that he killed his wife because she admitted that she had slept with a co-worker named Dennis. (XV 827) The appellant stated that the murder was premeditated because he had planned it. (XV 832) The appellant began planning to murder his wife the night she told him that she had slept with a coworker. (XV 832) "I think it was that instant, at that instant, when I planned to kill her. I know it was." (XV 834) Then the appellant stated: "So I couldn't let her see me angry. I did not have a gun." (XV 834)

To accomplish his plan to kill his wife, the appellant stole a gun from William Steele. (XV 835) Prior to the shooting, the appellant went to Steele's

house to confirm that Steele's gun was where he kept it in his chair. (XV 836) The morning of the murder, the appellant went to Steele's house, and while Steele was distracted, took his gun and replaced it with a BB gun that resembled the gun. (XV 836) The morning of the shooting, the appellant also went to the bank and withdrew \$3,000.00 so he could take to the money to prison with him. (XV 837) After getting William Steele's gun, the appellant went back to work and asked his wife's supervisor if he could take her to the bank to make a big bank withdrawal. (XV 839) The appellant told Lynne Kopsho that he needed her to come with him to make a withdrawal from the Florida Credit Union. (XV 840) The appellant was surprised when Lynne did not say anything when he headed east on 40 the opposite direction from the credit union. (XV 841)

The appellant was planning on driving out to Ocala State Forest down a dirt road. (XV 846) The appellant did not intend to kill her on the side of the road, and the Lynne Kopsho might have even talked him out of killing her if she did not scramble like she did. (XV 847) Lynne Kopsho stated that she wanted closure while they were driving down the road, and the appellant said he wanted closure too. (XV 847) The appellant stated he was tired of the situation and he was hurting too much inside. (XV 847) At that point the appellant reached down and pulled

the gun. (XV 847) Lynne Kopsho had a surprised look on her face and she keep asking why. (XV 847) The appellant would not say anything first and then said because he wanted closure and had to get her out of his life. (XV 847)

The appellant's wife then tried to get out of the vehicle, so the appellant started applying the brakes and grabbing her at the same time. (XV 852) The appellant's wife then grabbed the steering wheel and started pulling the steering wheel and then that is when the truck got over to the side of the road. (XV 852) Lynne Kopsho fled from the truck. (XV 852) The appellant came out behind her and loaded the gun and put a bullet in the chamber. (XV 852) As they were both running, the appellant shot Lynne in the side. (XV 852)

Lynne Kopsho fell to the ground and she was groaning. (XV 853) The appellant brushed her hair away from her face, looked at her and told her that he loved her, and then shot her in the heart. (XV 854) The appellant observed that she was still in pain, and just closed his eyes and shot again. (XV 854) The appellant then stated to the deputy sheriff in his confession "I love you. God, I love her. Ain't love strange? Makes you kill somebody." (XV 854) After the appellant shot his wife, he kept eye witnesses away from her. (XV 855) The appellant did not want anybody to help her because he wanted her to die. (XV 856) After the

appellant knew that Lynne Kopsho was dead, he threw the gun down by her and waited for police to arrive. (XV 856)

#### **Defense Case**

William Laster was a co-worker of the appellant and his wife. (XV 869) On the morning of the murder, Laster asked to borrow Lynne Kopsho's car keys. (XV 870) At the time that the appellant came to get his wife to go to the bank, Laster had Lynne Kopsho's car keys. (XV 870)

Lynne Kopsho told Jane Cameron that she had a sexual liaison with Dennis Hisey while she was still residing with the appellant. (XV 873) The Sunday before Lynne Kopsho's murder, Robin Cameron told the appellant that Lynne Kopsho had an affair with Dennis Hisey. (XV 876)

Dennis Hisey was Lynne Kopsho's supervisor at Custom Windows. (XV 879) After Hisey left employment there, he was contacted by Lynne Kopsho, and she asked if she could come by his house with friends. (XV 883) During the visit, Kopsho and Hisey had sex in his bathroom. (XV 884) After the sexual liaison, Hisey had no further contact with Kopsho. (XV 884)

Tuesday evening before the murder of Lynne Kopsho, the appellant was having a conversation with Robin Cameron about cheating women. (XV 897) The

guys gave their opinions as to what they would do if their wife or girlfriend had cheated on them, and their answers were pretty much the same. (XV 897) Even Robin Cameron said "he would kill the bitch," but he could not remember the appellant's answer specifically. (XV 897)

### **Penalty Phase**

John Ferro, a Marion County Deputy Sheriff, interviewed the appellant's exgirlfriend at the Munroe Regional Emergency Room in regards to a report of her being severely beaten. (XVII 1071) The statements by the women in the hospital did not add-up, and after being confronted by Ferro, the women admitted that she had been beaten with the butt of a shotgun; sexually assaulted and then driven to Florida from Georgia by the appellant. (XVII 1075-76) Ferro then questioned the appellant outside the emergency room, and he confirmed that he had struck his exgirlfriend with a two by four out of anger. (XVII 1081) He denied having sex or taking her to Florida against her will. (XVII 1082)

Wayne White was a probation officer with the Florida Department of Corrections that supervised appellant's probation for his convictions for False Imprisonment while Armed and Sexual Battery. (XVII 1097) On October 27, 2000 the appellant was on probation for False Imprisonment and Sexual Battery

convictions. (XVII 1097)

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