IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM MICHAEL KOPSHO,

Case No. SC05-763

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

n24 Revealingly, the United States Supreme Court, in Martinez-Salazar, noted--in dicta-that the Swain standard of automatic reversal was itself dicta and that it was founded on "a series of [United States Supreme Court] early cases decided long before the adoption of harmless-error review." 528 U.S. at 317 n.4.

II. THE PURELY STATUTORY BASIS OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

Peremptory challenges in Florida are purely a statutory right; they have no state constitutional foundation. In criminal trials, peremptory challenges are granted equally to the State and to the defendant by section 913.08, Florida Statutes (2003). statutory right, peremptory challenges important means to help ensure that both sides receive their state constitutional right to a fair trial impartial jury. But before an they are constitutional dimension. There is no express implicit provision in Florida's constitution securing the right to peremptory challenges; and to hold otherwise is contrary to our own precedent.

Because peremptory challenges are only a statutory right given to help secure the constitutional right to a fair trial by jury, we are bound to apply a harmless error standard. The harmless error rule as codified in section 924.33, Florida Statutes (2003), and as applied by our own precedent dictates this result. This Court interpreted section 924.33 in State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1134 (Fla. 1986), stating:

Section 924.33 respects the constitutional right to a fair trial free of harmful error but directs appellate courts not to apply a standard of review which requires that trials be free of harmless errors. The authority of the legislature to enact harmless error statutes is unquestioned.

Contraposed to this legislative authority, the courts may establish the rule that certain errors always violate the right to a fair trial and are, thus, per se reversible. To do so, however, we are obligated to perform a reasoned analysis which shows that this is true, and that, for constitutional reasons, we must override the legislative decision.

(Original emphasis and footnote omitted; emphasis added.) In light of section 924.33, our statements in *DiGuilio*, and our historical application of the harmless error rule, I see no constitutional reason that supports a *per se* reversal rule in general or as

applied in this case. As I have said, it is clear that Busby's constitutional right to an impartial jury was violated. None of his jurors were legally objectionable. Because there is no constitutional right to peremptory challenges because this Court's own precedent makes it clear that these challenges are not of a constitutional dimension, to require $per\ se$ reversal in a case where party receives what the constitution requires violates section 924.33 as interpreted by this Court in DiGuilio. n25

n25 See Jefferson v. State, 595 So. 2d 38, 41 (Fla. 1992); State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984); Carroll v. State, 139 Fla. 233, 190 So. 437, 438 (Fla. 1939).

Busby, 894 So. 2d at 109-111.

If a harmless error test were applied in this case, the conviction would stand. Defense counsel accepted Juror Bellet (the juror whom defense counsel later identified to back-strike when he was denied an additional peremptory challenge.)¹⁰ Juror Bellet was not a legally objectionable juror. He did not subscribe to a newspaper and had heard nothing about this case. (Vol. 10, R226-227). He had never been exposed to domestic violence. (Vol. 10, R227). He had been a victim of a crime one time when someone stole tools from his truck. (Vol. 10, R470). He spent three years in the Air Force. (Vol. 10, R477). He was Catholic, but if he had to vote on whether Florida should keep the death penalty, he would vote "yes." (Vol. 10, R229, 483). He

¹⁰ Defense counsel also struck two other jurors before he asked to back-strike Juror Mullinax.

supports the death penalty, but would have to hear all the evidence before he could make up his mind. (Vol. 10, R485). He would have to consider whether the crime was done by violence or an accident, premeditated or spur-of-the moment. (Vol. 10, R486). He would follow the directions of the judge on which crimes warrant the death penalty. (Vol. 10, R486). Problems between the two people would be mitigating, especially if something just "snapped" and the person couldn't take it any more. (Vol. 10, R488). He would have to know all the circumstances. (Vol. 10, R489).

In Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81 (1988), the United States Supreme Court unequivocally "rejecte[d] the notion that the loss of a peremptory challenge constitutes a violation of the constitutional right to an impartial jury." Ross, 487 U.S. at 88. Peremptory challenges "are one means to achieve the constitutionally required end of an impartial jury." United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 307 (2000). Here, Kopsho failed to demonstrate that Juror Bellet, on whom he would have exercised the additional peremptory challenge, was not impartial. There is a presumption of a juror's impartiality. See, e.g., Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 984 (1997); Zile v. State, 710 So. 2d 729, 735 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (a prospective juror is presumed impartial absent a showing to the contrary). Accordingly, Appellant's use

of a peremptory challenge to remove Juror Mullinax, without a showing that the juror that actually sat was biased, did not abridge his Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury. Ross, 487 U.S. at 88; see also Martinez-Salazar, id.

As this Court recognized in $State\ v.\ Neil$, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984),

Article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution guarantees the right to an impartial jury. The right to peremptory challenges is not of constitutional dimension. The primary purpose of peremptory challenges is to aid and assist in the selection of an impartial jury.

Id. at 486. "The right to an impartial jury guaranteed by article I, section 16, is best safeguarded not by an arcane maze of reversible error traps, but by reason and common sense." Anderson v. State, 711 So. 2d 230, 231 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (reviewing a Batson claim). Consistent with the foregoing, "[a]ny claim that the jury was not impartial, therefore, must focus not on the [venireman improperly not removed for cause], but on the jurors who ultimately sat." Ross, 487 U.S. at 86. Thus, contrary to the majority's conclusion in Busby, Kopsho received precisely that guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. I, § 16 of the Florida Constitution -- an impartial jury. 11

 $^{^{11}}$ Indeed, the majority of jurisdictions, as noted by the dissent in Busby, have rejected the proposition that the guarantee of an impartial jury includes entitlement to a jury of a particular

A criminal defendant has "a right to an impartial jury, but [is] not entitled to any particular persons as jurors." McRae v. State, 57 So. 348 (Fla. 1911). Thus, as stated in Young v. State, 96 So. 381 (Fla. 1923), "[t]he purpose [of peremptory challenges] is that there may be full assurance of the constitutional guaranty of a trial by an impartial jury." Id. at 383. That is,

the right is given in aid of the party's interest to secure a fair and impartial jury, not for creating ground to claim partiality which but for its exercise would not exist. It does not follow that by using the right as he pleases, he obtains the further one to repudiate the consequences of his own choice.

Frazier v. United States, 335 U.S. 497, 505 (1948). This Court recognized as much in Rollins v. State, 148 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1963). In Rollins, the Court looked to the reasons that counsel would have peremptorily removed that juror, stating that the reasons given did not render the "venireman legally objectionable or unqualified to serve," having assumed that a challenge for improperly denied cause was and upon identification of a venireman that counsel would have exercised a peremptory challenge had he an additional one. *Id.* at 276; see also Longshore v. Fronrath Chevrolet, Inc., 527 So. 2d 922,

composition. In addition to those cases cited by the dissent, state decisions from Maryland, Oregon, and Wyoming also are in accord. *Grandison v. State*, 670 A.2d 398, 417-418 (Md. 1995); State v. Barone, 969 P.2d 1013, 1018-1019 (Or. 1998); Klahn v. State, 96 P.3d 472, 483 (Wyo. 2004), respectively.

924 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (recognizing the requirement under Rollins that a juror for whom defendant sought an additional peremptory challenge must have been subject to cause removal).

If the mere act of identifying the juror were sufficient in itself to establish reversible error -- i.e., preservation of the alleged error constitutes the error itself -- there simply would have been no reason for the Court to look to the reasons for the proposed peremptory challenge and to consider whether the juror sought to be removed improperly sat. See also Knowles v. State, 632 So. 2d 62, 65 (Fla. 1993) (in addressing lack of preservation as to the jury issue, the Court observed not only that the defendant did identify a juror he wanted off the jury, but also that he did not "claim that any of the jurors seated were biased."). Rollins and Knowles demonstrate that there is a distinction between a violation of the right to an impartial jury and preserving a claim of loss of a peremptory challenge due to an improper denial of a strike for cause.

Cases relied upon in *Trotter*, including *Hill v. State*, 477 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1985) and *Moore v. State*, 525 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 1988), see *Trotter*, 576 So. 2d at 693 n.6, were decided prior to *Ross*. Thus in respect to protecting a defendant's constitutional right to an impartial jury, the focus upon the venireman who should have been removed for cause as opposed to the jury that actually sat, has nothing to do with protecting the right to an

impartial jury. As stated, these issues are distinct, and the per se reversible error rule in connection with a defendant's use of a peremptory challenge provides defendants with an unwarranted windfall.

To the extent, however, that state law does require per se reversal to vindicate defendant's inability to remove any venireman due to the lack of additional peremptory challenges -- irrespective of bias -- such a rule creates the right to a jury made up of particular individuals and is contrary to the purpose behind peremptory challenges in guaranteeing defendant's right to an impartial jury. Arguably, then, the inability of a defendant to remove any venireman with a peremptory challenge would violate his right to an "impartial jury" as interpreted by this Court, irrespective of the reason for a lack of additional peremptory challenges -- including, for example, a statutory limit on the number of peremptories.

The right to the exercise of peremptory challenges is a matter of state statutory law, and just as the State is prohibited from exercising its peremptory challenges in a discriminatory fashion, so too is the criminal defendant. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 59 (1992).

Under Florida law, a party's use of peremptory challenges is limited only by the rule that the challenges may not be used to exclude members of a "distinctive group." See State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984) (holding that race-based peremptory

challenges violate the defendant's right to an impartial jury); State v. Allen, 616 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993) (same as to ethnicity); Abshire v. State, 642 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1994) (same as to gender). Both parties have the right to peremptorily strike "persons thought to be inclined against their interests." Holland v. Illinois, 493 U.S. 474, 480, 107 L. Ed. 2d 905, 110 S. Ct. 803 (1990).

San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1343 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 841 (1998).

Through the operation of the per se reversible error rule, a defendant can obtain a new trial irrespective that one or more jurors he would have exercised a peremptory challenge against was based upon a discriminatory purpose. And because the identified juror is not removed where the request for an additional peremptory is denied -- thus setting the stage for reversible error -- there exists no mechanism by which the State can challenge the propriety of the proposed challenge. 12

Just as the use of peremptory challenges "is attributable to state action" on the trial level, *McCollum*, 505 U.S. at 54-55, it is beyond dispute that the *per se* reversible error

¹² Because the State is unable to challenge a proposed peremptory challenge, thereby relieving defendant of what would otherwise be his burden to come forward with a neutral reason for using such a strike, there is no basis for applying the rule that the actual exercise of a peremptory challenge is presumptively nondiscriminatory. Rather, these circumstances are akin to when there is a failure to offer any reason for the strike, which is inadequate to sustain the strike. *See Dorsey v. State*, 868 So. 2d 1192, 1201-1202 (Fla. 2003).

accorded by this Court involving a requested peremptory challenge based upon a discriminatory purpose that would have been exercised but for lack of availability, similarly would constitute state action violative of state and federal constitutional provisions.

As a consequence of the foregoing, the burden of the denial of a defendant's per se right to an additional peremptory is shifted to the State which is denied the "broad leeway in allowing parties to make a prima facie showing that a 'likelihood' of discrimination exists." State v. Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219 (1988). The State doubts that the Court intended that a criminal defendant automatically obtain a new trial irrespective of the potential unconstitutional use of peremptory challenges.

Without having to demonstrate actual prejudice, a criminal defendant is awarded a new trial if the trial court erred in not removing the venireman subject to a strike for cause where defendant removed the venireman with a peremptory challenge, used the remaining challenges afforded under § 913.03, and then requested but did not receive an additional peremptory to remove an identified potential juror. This windfall to the defendant derives from an elevation of form over substance, and is unfounded under Florida law.

In determining whether per se reversible error is

warranted, this Court has always looked to the fairness of the proceedings. As explained in *State v. Schopp*, 653 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1995):

We explained in DiGuilio that a defendant has constitutional right to a fair trial free of harmful This right has been recognized 924.33, Florida section legislature in Statutes (1993), which provides that harmless error analysis is applicable to all judgments. While the courts may establish a rule of per se reversal for certain types of errors, a per se rule is appropriate only for those errors that always vitiate the right to a fair trial and therefore are always harmful. 491 So. 2d at 1134-35.

Id. at 1020 (emphasis added). See also United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 508-509 (1983). ("[G]iven the myriad safeguards provided to assure a fair trial, and taking into account the reality of the human fallibility of the participants, there can be no such thing as an error-free, perfect trial, and that the Constitution does not guarantee such a trial.") (discussing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)).

Without having to demonstrate that he was compelled to accept as a juror someone biased against him, the fairness of Kopsho's proceedings literally are irrelevant for the sake of a statutory right to a number of peremptory challenges intended in themselves to guarantee the fairness of the proceedings. Most states have rejected this very proposition. See Busby, (Bell, J., dissenting) (citing cases). This Court's opinion in Trotter simply cannot be reconciled with those cases holding that even

some constitutional violations — those not infringing upon the fairness of the trial — can be harmless. See Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309-310 (1991) (unconstitutional admission of coerced confession at guilt stage); Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738 (1990) (unconstitutionally broad jury instructions at sentencing stage); Satterwhite v. Texas, 486 U.S. 249 (1988) (unconstitutional admission of evidence at sentencing stage).

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